
 
CITY OF STATESBORO, GEORGIA                           CITY COUNCIL MEETING & 
 CITY HALL COUNCIL CHAMBERS                            PUBLIC HEARING AGENDA 

 

  

July 01, 2014 9:00 am 
 

1. Call to Order by Mayor Jan Moore 
 

2. Invocation and Pledge of Allegiance by Councilman Travis Chance 
 

3. Consideration of a Motion to appoint Robert Cheshire as City Manager on an interim 
basis. 

  
4. Public Comments (Agenda Item): 

 
5. Consideration of a Motion to approve the Consent Agenda 

A) Approval of Minutes 
a) 06-17-2014 Council Minutes 
b) 06-24-2014 Called Council Minutes 
c) 06-24-2014 Executive Session Minutes 
d) Consideration of a Motion to approve Resolution 2014-20: A Resolution  

authorizing a   lease agreement between the Mayor and City Council of Statesboro 
and Cakes, LLC. 

e) Consideration of a Motion to approve Resolution 2014-21: A Resolution 
    authorizing a subordination agreement between the Mayor and City Council of  
    Statesboro and Cakes, LLC. 

 
6. Consideration of a Motion to approve Resolution 2014-24: A Resolution for the closures 

of the remainder of Crescent Circle and a portion of N. Crescent. 
 

7. Consideration of a Motion to Adopt Resolution 2014-22. A Resolution accepting the 
right of way of American Way as a public street to be owned and maintained by the City 
of Statesboro. 

 
8. Consideration of a Motion to approve Resolution 2014-23: A Resolution authorizing a 

contract with Ogeechee Technical College for the use of certain equipment in courses of 
study in firefighting and emergency services. 

 
9. Consideration of a Motion to Approve a Professional Engineering Services Contract with 

Parker Engineering in the amount of $35,000 to provide planning, design, and bidding 
services for Improvements to Savannah Ave. between E. Main St. and Gentilly Rd. 
 Funding for services to come from 2007 SPLOST funds.  

   
10. Consideration of a Motion to approve award of Contract to Y-Delta, Inc. in the amount of 

$22,194.09 for repairs to the four (4) brick paver crosswalks located at the Intersection of 
W. Main St. @ S. College St.  
 



 
 

11. Consideration of a Motion to authorize the Mayor to sign a Service Delivery Strategy 
Amendment. 

 
12. Other Business from City Council 

A) Update on the Fit by ’15 Health and Wellness Challenge 
 

13. Public Comments (General) 
A) Bill Thomas request to speak to Council 

 
14. Consideration of a Motion to Adjourn 



 
 

CITY OF STATESBORO 
Council Minutes 

June 17, 2014 

 
A regular meeting of the Statesboro City Council was held on June 17th, 2014 at 5:15 p.m. in the 
Council Chambers at City Hall. Present were Mayor Jan J. Moore, Council Members: Will Britt, 
Phil Boyum, Gary Lewis and Travis Chance.  Also present were City Manager Frank Parker, 
City Clerk Sue Starling, City Attorney Alvin Leaphart, City Engineer Robert Cheshire and 
Director of Community Development Mandi Cody. Absent was Councilman John Riggs. 
 
The meeting was called to order by Mayor Moore. 
The Invocation and Pledge of Allegiance was given by Councilman Gary Lewis.    
 Public Comments (Agenda Item): None 
 
Consideration of a Motion to approve the Consent Agenda: 
 

A) Approval of Minutes 
 

       a) 06-03-2014 Council Minutes 
       b) 06-03-2014 Council Work Session Minutes 
       c) 06-05-2014 Public Hearing Budget Minutes 
 

B) Notification of alcohol license application: 
a) Licensee:  Jones Mashburn (Changing Managers) 

       DBA:  The Olive Garden Italian Restaurant #1837 
         Location:  201 Henry Boulevard 
         Type of Alcohol License:  Pouring Beer, Wine & Liquor 
       Type of Business:  Restaurant 
 

C) Notification of alcohol license: 
b)  Licensee:  John Franklin Dismuke 

       DBA:  Eagle Creek Brewing Company 
                Location:  106 Savannah Avenue 
                Type of Alcohol License:  Manufacturing 
                Type of Business:  Brewery 
 

D) Public Hearing and Consideration of a Motion to approve Resolution 2014-09: A 
Resolution Exempting Certain Vehicles from Marking Requirements for One Year 

 
E) Consideration of a Motion to approve Resolution 2014-10: A Resolution adopting 

maximum fees for towing and storage of illegally parked vehicles. 
 



 
 

F) Consideration of a motion to approve Resolution 2014-12: A Resolution for the 
Statesboro Police Department to apply for the available 2014 Edward Byrne 
Memorial Justice Assistance Grant (JAG) in the amount of $13,640.00 with 45% of 
the grant totaling $6,138.00 being awarded to the Bulloch County Sheriff’s Office 
under disparity. 

 
G) Consideration of a Motion to approve Resolution 2014-13: A Resolution of the   

Mayor and City Council of Statesboro requesting the Election Superintendent to 
call an election for  the   purpose  of  submitting  to  the   voters   of  the City of 
Statesboro for approval or rejection the act which authorizes the City of Statesboro 
to  exercise redevelopment powers  under the "redevelopment powers law," as it 
may be amended from time  to time;  to approve the  form  of the  ballot  to  be used 
in said election; and for other  purposes. 

 
H) Consideration of a Motion to approve Resolution 2014-15: A Resolution adopting 

financial policies for the City of Statesboro, Georgia. 
 

I) Consideration of a Motion to approve Resolution 2014-18: A Resolution: A 
Resolution for Plan Submittal to the CRC and DCA for technical review 
compliance. 

 
J) Consideration of a Motion to approve Resolution 2014-19:A  Resolution to adopt the 

fourth amendment to the Fiscal Year 2014 budget for each fund of the City of 
Statesboro, Georgia, appropriating the amounts shown in each budget as 
expenditures/expenses, adopting the several items of revenue anticipations, and 
prohibiting expenditures or expenses from exceeding the actual funding 
appropriated. 
 

Councilman Phil Boyum asked for item (E) to be pulled from the consent agenda for further 
discussion. Mayor Moore stated the item would be open for discussion after item 17 on the 
agenda. Mayor Pro Tem Will Britt made a motion, seconded by Councilman Chance to approve 
the remainder of the consent agenda in its entirety. Councilman Britt, Boyum, Lewis and Chance 
voted in favor of the motion. The motion carried by a 4-0 vote. 
 
Public Hearing and Consideration of a Motion to Authorize the Mayor to execute a 
contract for services with the Statesboro Arts Council, Inc. to market downtown Statesboro 
by operating and managing the Averitt Center for the Arts, using proceeds from the 
Hotel/Motel Tax 
 
Councilman Boyum made a motion, seconded by Councilman Lewis to Authorize the Mayor to 
execute a contract for services with the Statesboro Arts Council, Inc. to market downtown 
Statesboro by operating and managing the Averitt Center for the Arts, using proceeds from the 
Hotel/Motel Tax. Councilman Britt, Boyum, Lewis and Chance voted in favor of the motion. 
The motion carried by a 4-0 vote. 
 
 
 



 
 

Public Hearing and Consideration of a Motion to Authorize the Mayor to execute a 
contract for services with the Downtown Statesboro Development Authority/Main Street to 
market downtown Statesboro, using proceeds from the Hotel/Motel Tax 
 
Councilman Lewis made a motion, seconded by Mayor Pro Tem Will Britt to Authorize the 
Mayor to execute a contract for services with the Downtown Statesboro Development 
Authority/Main Street to market downtown Statesboro, using proceeds from the Hotel/Motel 
Tax. Councilman Britt, Boyum, Lewis and Chance voted in favor of the motion. The motion 
carried by a 4-0 vote. 
 
Public Hearing and Consideration of a Motion to Authorize the Mayor to execute a 
contract for services with the Statesboro Convention and Visitors Bureau, Inc. to market 
Statesboro and Bulloch County, using proceeds from the Hotel/Motel Tax 
 
Darrin Van Tassell representing the SCVB thanked Council for their continuing support to the 
organization. Mayor Pro Tem Will Britt made a motion, seconded by Councilman Lewis to 
Authorize the Mayor to execute a contract for services with the Statesboro Convention and 
Visitors Bureau, Inc. to market Statesboro and Bulloch County, using proceeds from the 
Hotel/Motel Tax. Councilman Britt, Boyum, Lewis and Chance voted in favor of the motion. 
The motion carried by a 4-0 vote. 
 
Public Hearing #2 regarding the Update to the City of Statesboro Comprehensive Master 
Plan 
 
Director of Community Development Mandi Cody updated Council on the Comprehensive Plan 
as no vote was required. 
 
Public Hearing regarding the closure of the remainder of Crescent Ave. and a portion of 
North Crescent 
 
City Engineer Robert Cheshire updated Council on the plans for the road closing request as well 
as Joey Maxwell who spoke for the Statesboro Primitive Baptist Church. Wesley Parker stated 
the street closing would help the CDBG with drainage problems. Mayor Moore read a letter that 
was submitted by Dr. Steve Chester who lives on Crescent Ave. The letter states he has some 
concerns of closing the road and was somewhat against the closing. There was no vote required 
on this item as it was only a public hearing. 
 
Consideration of a Motion to approve Resolution 2014-11: A Resolution authorizing a 
Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) between the City of Statesboro, Georgia and 
Campus Communications Group, Inc.  
 
Councilman Boyum made a motion, seconded by Mayor Pro Tem Will Britt to approve 
Resolution 2014-11: A Resolution authorizing a Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) 
between the City of Statesboro, Georgia and Campus Communications Group, Inc. Councilman 
Britt, Boyum, Lewis and Chance voted in favor of the motion. The motion carried by a 4-0 vote. 
 
 



 
 

Consideration of a Motion to approve Resolution 2014-14: A Resolution of the City of 
Statesboro through the Council to authorize the Mayor to establish a franchise fee 
applicable to holders of cable and video franchises issued by the State of Georgia. 
 
Mayor Pro Tem Will Britt made a motion, seconded by Councilman Lewis to Resolution 2014-
14: A Resolution of the City of Statesboro through the Council to authorize the Mayor to 
establish a franchise fee applicable to holders of cable and video franchises issued by the State of 
Georgia. Councilman Britt, Boyum, Lewis and Chance voted in favor of the motion. The motion 
carried by a 4-0 vote. 
 
Consideration of a Motion to approve Resolution 2014-16: A Resolution adopting the Fiscal 
Year 2015 Budget Assumptions for the City of Statesboro, Georgia. 
 
After a very lengthy discussion on this item regarding a proposed 2.5% pay raise for employees, 
Mayor Pro Tem Will Britt made a motion, seconded by Councilman Chance to approve 
Resolution 2014-16: A Resolution adopting the Fiscal Year 2015 Budget Assumptions for the 
City of Statesboro, Georgia. Councilman Britt, Boyum, Lewis and Chance voted in favor of the 
motion. The motion carried by a 4-0 vote. 
 
Consideration of a Motion to approve Resolution 2014-17: A Resolution adopting the Fiscal 
Year 2015 authorized personnel for the City of Statesboro, Georgia. 
 
Mayor Pro Tem Will Britt made a motion, seconded by Councilman Chance to approve 
Resolution 2014-17: A Resolution adopting the Fiscal Year 2015 authorized personnel for the 
City of Statesboro, Georgia. Councilman Britt, Boyum, Lewis and Chance voted in favor of the 
motion. The motion carried by a 4-0 vote. 
 
Consideration of a Motion to approve Resolution 2014-20: A Resolution to adopt the Fiscal 
Year 2015 Budget for each fund of the City of Statesboro, Georgia, appropriating the 
amounts shown in each budget as expenditures/expenses, adopting the several items of 
revenue anticipations, and prohibiting expenditures or expenses from exceeding the actual 
funding available for appropriation. 
 
Mayor Pro Tem Will Britt made a motion, seconded by Councilman Chance to approve 
Resolution 2014-20: A Resolution to adopt the Fiscal Year 2015 Budget for each fund of the 
City of Statesboro, Georgia, appropriating the amounts shown in each budget as 
expenditures/expenses, adopting the several items of revenue anticipations, and prohibiting 
expenditures or expenses from exceeding the actual funding available for appropriation. 
Councilman Britt, Boyum, Lewis and Chance voted in favor of the motion. The motion carried 
by a 4-0 vote. 
 
Consideration of a Motion to authorize staff to enter into contract negotiations with 
Parker Engineering to provide planning and design services associated with the 
development of construction documents and bid package for the proposed road 
improvements to Savannah Ave. between E. Main St. and Gentilly Rd. 
 



 
 

Councilman Boyum made a motion, seconded by Councilman Lewis to authorize staff to enter 
into contract negotiations with Parker Engineering to provide planning and design services 
associated with the development of construction documents and bid package for the proposed 
road improvements to Savannah Ave. between E. Main St. and Gentilly Rd. Councilman Britt, 
Boyum, Lewis and Chance voted in favor of the motion. The motion carried by a 4-0 vote. 
 
Consideration of a Motion to authorize staff to enter into contract negotiations with 
Hussey, Gay, Bell and DeYoung to provide planning and design services associated with the 
development of construction documents and bid package for the proposed water 
improvements to Savannah Ave. between E. Main St. and Gentilly Rd. 
 
Councilman Boyum made a motion, seconded by Councilman Lewis to authorize staff to enter 
into contract negotiations with Hussey, Gay, Bell and DeYoung to provide planning and design 
services associated with the development of construction documents and bid package for the 
proposed water improvements to Savannah Ave. between E. Main St. and Gentilly Rd. 
Councilman Britt, Boyum, Lewis and Chance voted in favor of the motion. The motion carried 
by a 4-0 vote. 
 
Consideration of Motion to award the purchase of a vacuum excavator to Ditch Witch of 
Georgia having offered the low bid in the amount of $54,320.78 
 
Councilman Chance made a motion, seconded by Mayor Pro Tem Will Britt to award the 
purchase of a vacuum excavator to Ditch Witch of Georgia having offered the low bid in the 
amount of $54,320.78. Councilman Britt, Boyum and Chance voted in favor of the motion. The 
motion carried by a 3-0 vote. Councilman Lewis had left the room briefly. 
 
Consideration of a Motion to set a date for a work session to discuss the changes to Chapter 
6 (Alcohol) of the City of Statesboro Ordinances 
 
Councilman Chance made a motion, seconded by Mayor Pro Tem Will Britt to set the date of 
August 5th, 2014 for the next work session to discuss the changes to Chapter 6 (alcohol) of the 
Statesboro Code of Ordinances. The work session will follow the regular Council Meeting. 
Councilman Britt, Boyum, Lewis and Chance voted in favor of the motion. The motion carried 
by a 4-0 vote. 
 
(E) Consideration of a Motion to approve Resolution 2014-10: A Resolution adopting 

maximum fees for towing and storage of illegally parked vehicles. 
 
Item (E) was pulled from the consent agenda. Mayor Moore opened the floor for Council’s 
discussion. Councilman Boyum asked where the list was for the fees. The list was included in the 
packet that was published. Councilman Boyum made a motion, seconded by Councilman Chance 
to approve Resolution 2014-10: A Resolution adopting maximum fees for towing and storage of 
illegally parked vehicles. 
 
 
 
 



 
 

Other Business from City Council: 
 
Presentation by the Engineering Department to Provide an Update on an Ongoing 
Drainage Issue 
 
David Hendrix updated Council with visuals of where the drainage problems were in the Foxlake 
subdivision along with suggestions on solving the issues. Director of Water Wastewater also 
offered suggestions on ways to help with the sewer problems. 
 
City Manager Frank Parker asked Council to approve a change order I/16 U.S. Hwy. 301 1.0 MG 
Elevated Storage Tank for the City of Statesboro in the amount of $26,705.00. 
Councilman Lewis made a motion, seconded by Councilman Chance to  approve a change order 
I/16 U.S. Hwy. 301 1.0 MG Elevated Storage Tank for the City of Statesboro in the amount of 
$26,705.00. Councilman Britt, Boyum, Lewis and Chance voted in favor of the motion. The 
motion carried by a 4-0 vote. 
 
Public Comments (General): None 
 
Consideration of a Motion to enter into Executive Session to discuss “Personnel Matters” 
“Real Estate” and/or “Potential Litigation” in accordance with O.C.G.A.§50-14-3 (2012) 
 
There was no call for an Executive Session. 
 
Consideration of a Motion to Adjourn 
 
Councilman Chance made a motion, seconded by Councilman Boyum to adjourn. Councilman 
Britt, Boyum, Lewis and Chance voted in favor of the motion. The motion carried by a 4-0 vote. 
The meeting was adjourned at 7:45 pm. 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 

CITY OF STATESBORO 
Called Council Minutes 

June 24, 2014 

 
A called meeting of the Statesboro City Council was held on June 24th, 2014 at 3:00 p.m. in the 
Council Chambers at City Hall. Present were Mayor Jan Moore, Council Members: Will Britt, 
Phil Boyum, John Riggs, Gary Lewis and Travis Chance.  Also present were City Manager 
Frank Parker, City Clerk Sue Starling and City Attorney Alvin Leaphart.    
The meeting was called to Order by Mayor Jan Moore. 

 
Presentation of argument and evidence regarding personnel matters. 
 
Mayor Moore stated the meeting was called due to the comments made at a department head 
meeting on June 19th, 2014. 
Mayor Moore read the rules of order for the meeting. City Attorney Alvin Leaphart presented the 
section of the Open Meetings Act that pertains to this meeting in regards to presenting arguments 
and evidence regarding personnel matters. 
Mayor Moore and City Attorney Alvin Leaphart gave their statement of the events that took 
place at the Department Head meeting. Councilmember Phil Boyum and Mayor Pro Tem Will 
Britt made a statement of their discoveries concerning the events of the department head 
meeting. Mayor Pro Tem Will Britt stated that he would like to see a resolution that was not so 
finite black and white. Councilman John Riggs stated he would save his comments until after the 
Executive Session. Councilman Gary Lewis stated that in the past, they have met in Atlanta 
when going to GMA. Councilman Travis Chance stated he was the one that asked for a Called 
Meeting and was not going to be accused of violating the Open Meetings Act when he has never 
been in a meeting with a quorum outside of Council. 
Mayor Moore asked City Manager Frank Parker if he would like to make a statement. Mr. Parker 
gave his statement of the events that took place at the department head meeting. Mr. Parker 
stated that on 8 or 10 times he was in the presence of Council at GMA and business was 
discussed. Mr. Parker also stated that he has seen more than 2 Councilmembers in City Attorney 
Alvin Leaphart’s office.  

 
Consideration of a Motion to enter into Executive Session to discuss “Personnel Matters”   
in accordance with O.C.G.A.§50-14-3 (2012) 
 
After hearing the arguments and evidence, Mayor Moore asked for a motion to enter into 
Executive Session to discuss “Personnel Matters”.  Councilman Chance made a motion, 
seconded by Councilman Riggs to enter into Executive Session to discuss “Personnel Matters”. 
Councilman Britt, Boyum, Riggs, Lewis and Chance voted in favor of the motion. The motion 
carried by a 5-0 vote. 
 
 



 
 

At 4:03 pm, the meeting was called back to order by Mayor Moore. Councilman Chance made a 
motion, seconded by Councilman Riggs to come out of Executive Session. Councilman Britt, 
Boyum, Riggs, Lewis and Chance voted in favor of the motion. The motion carried by a 5-0 
vote. 
 
Based on the findings, Mayor Moore asked for a motion to terminate City Manager Frank Parker 
for cause effective immediately. Councilman Chance made a motion, seconded by Councilman 
Riggs to terminate City Manager Frank Parker for cause effective immediately. Councilman   
Boyum, Riggs and Chance voted in favor of the motion. Councilman Britt and Lewis voted 
against the motion. The motion carried by a 3-2 vote. 
 
Councilman Riggs stated Mr. Parker has done a great job for the City and was sorry it had to 
come to this. Councilman Gary Lewis stated to Mr. Parker that he was a friend before he came to 
Council and would always be his friend. 
 
Mayor Pro Tem Will Britt made a motion, seconded by Councilman Chance to authorize the 
Mayor to enter into discussions with Mr. Robert Cheshire for the position of Interim City 
Manager. Councilman Britt, Boyum, Riggs, Lewis and Chance voted in favor of the motion. The 
motion carried by a 5-0 vote. 
 
Councilman Chance made a motion, seconded by Councilman Boyum to appoint an independent 
Counsel to investigate these claims of violating the Open Meetings Law and report back to 
Council and to also recommend Judge Barber to select an attorney outside Statesboro to conduct 
the investigation without bias.  Councilman Britt, Boyum, Riggs, Lewis and Chance voted in 
favor of the motion. The motion carried by a 5-0 vote. 
 
Consideration of Motion to authorize the Mayor to sign a Service Delivery Strategy 
Amendment  
 
Mayor Moore removed this item from the agenda until a later date. 

 
Other Business from Council 
None 
 
Consideration of a Motion to Adjourn 
 
Councilman Chance made a motion, seconded by Councilman Riggs to adjourn. Councilman 
Britt, Boyum, Riggs, Lewis and Chance voted in favor of the motion. The motion carried by a 5-
0 vote. 
 
The meeting was adjourned at 4:10 pm. 

































































RESOLUTION 2014-24: 
 

A RESOLUTION TO CLOSE CRESCENT CIRCLE AND A PORTION OF NORTH CRESCENT 
 

THAT WHEREAS, OCGA § 36-34-3 vests the Mayor and City Council of Statesboro authority to close pubic 
streets and alleys when it finds that a closure of a public street or alley to be in the interest of the public 
at large; 
 
WHEREAS, Crescent Circle and a portion of N. Crescent that is the subject of this resolution is identified 
on the Attached Exhibit A. 
 
WHEREAS, a Public Hearing on this matter was held on June 17, 2014 before the Mayor and City Council; 
 
NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Mayor and City Council of the City of Statesboro, Georgia as 
follows: 
 
Section 1.   The Mayor of City Council make the following findings of fact based on the evidence 
presented at the Public Hearing that was held on June 17, 2014.  The Mayor and City Council agree with 
the City Engineers analysis.  The current layout of these streets often causes confusion for drivers 
because Crescent Circle extends directly into a private parking lot.  The current circular configuration of 
the streets serves little public purpose because the majority of the property owners along the streets 
are now owned by a single entity instead of individual homeowners.  Thus, the city is utilizing public 
funding and personnel to maintain a roadway that is rarely used by the travelling public.   
 
Section 2.  The Mayor and City Council should retain appropriate easements in the property, and 
grant appropriate easements to others prior to quitclaiming the City’s interest in the property to the 
various adjoining landowners. 
 
Section 3. Based on the above finding of fact the Mayor and City Council finds that the closing of 
these roadways identified in Exhibit A is for the benefit of the public at large, and hereby authorize the 
Mayor to execute any documents necessary to retain needed easements in the property; grant 
appropriate easements in the property to others, determine the fair market value of any interest in land 
conveyed to an adjoining property owner, and to execute any documents necessary to convey the City’s 
remaining interests in the property to the adjoining landowners. 
 
Section 4.  That this Resolution shall be and remain effective from and after its date of adoption 
 
                                                                                                                         Adopted this ___st day of ____, 2014 
 
                                                                                                                         CITY OF STATESBORO, GEORGIA 
 
 
                                                                                                                       _____________________________ 
                                                                                                                              By: Jan J. Moore, Mayor   
 
 
                                                                                                                       _____________________________ 
                                                                                                                            Attest: Sue Starling, City Clerk               





Resolution   2014-22: A RESOLUTION ACCEPTING RIGHT OF WAY OF AMERICAN WAY AS A 
PUBLIC STREET TO BE OWNED AND MAINTAINED BY THE CITY OF STATESBORO, 

GEORGIA. 

 WHEREAS, Drayton-Parker Companies, LLC  and William E. Simmons are the owners of one 
street segment known as American Way, and wishes to convey said street to the City of Statesboro; and 

 WHEREAS, with the planned growth of the surrounding area, the City believes it is in the best 
interest of the public for those roads to be public streets, owned and maintained by the City; 

 NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, by the Mayor and City Council of the City of 
Statesboro, Georgia, in regular session assembled this______ day of ________, 2014, as follows: 

 Section 1. That American Way is hereby formally accepted by dedication to the City of 
Statesboro as a public street and rights of way to be owned and maintained by the City of Statesboro. 

 Section 2. That this Resolution authorize and direct the Mayor of the City of Statesboro, 
Georgia to accept the dedication of the following described property by virtue of a right of way deed. 

 Section 3. All of that certain tract or parcel of land situate, lying and being in the 1209th G. 
M. District of  Bulloch County, Georgia, and in the City of Statesboro, being that certain 50’ right-of-way 
of American Way, containing 0.569 acres, more or less, as more particularly shown on a plat prepared by 
Thomas & Hutton, Georgia Registered Land Surveyors, dated November 20, 2013, and recorded in Plat 
Book 65, Page 388, Bulloch County records. 

   The above referenced plat and the description thereon are by reference 
incorporated herein for all purposes of this description. 

 Section 4. That this Resolution shall be and remain in full force and effect from and after its 
date of adoption. 

 Passed and adopted this _____ day of ________, 2014. 

 

THE CITY OF STATESBORO, GEORGIA. 
  

By:___________________ 
          Jan J. Moore, Mayor 

 
Attest:___________________ 

                           Sue Starling, City Clerk  

















 
 
 
 
 

RESOLUTION 2014-23: A RESOLUTION  
 

 WHEREAS, Article IX, Section III, Paragraph I of the Constitution of the State of Georgia 
authorizes governmental units and agencies to enter into contracts for a period not exceeding fifty (50) 
years for joint services, for the provision of services, or for the joint or separate use of facilities or 
equipment which the parties are authorized by law to undertake and provide; and 
 
 WHEREAS OGEECHEE TECHNICAL COLLEGE, a college operated by the Technical College System 
of Georgia is an agency of the State of Georgia, and THE CITY OF STATESBORO is a governmental unit 
charted by the State of Georgia; and  
 
 WHEREAS, OGEECHEE TECHNICAL COLLEGE has a need for the use of certain equipment for use 
in instruction in certain courses of study; 
 
 WHEREAS, The Mayor and City Council through the Statesboro Fire Department owns, operates 
and maintains said equipment;   
 

WHEREAS, attached to this resolution as Government Exhibit A is a copy of a contract for the 
use of certain equipment for use in instruction in certain courses of study;   
 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Mayor and City Council of the City of Statesboro, 
Georgia as follows: 
 

Section 1.  That Mayor and City Council accept and agree to the terms and conditions contained 
in the contract attached as Government Exhibit A. 

 
Section 2: The Mayor is hereby authorized to execute a contract with terms and conditions 

materially the same as the terms and conditions contained in contract attached as Government Exhibit 
A.   

 
Section 3.  That this Resolution shall be and remain effective from and after its date of adoption 

 
                                                                                                                         Adopted this ___  day of ____, 2014 
 
                                                                                                                         CITY OF STATESBORO, GEORGIA 
 
 
                                                                                                                       _____________________________ 
                                                                                                                              By: Jan J. Moore, Mayor   
 
 
                                                                                                                       _____________________________ 
                                                                                                                            Attest: Sue Starling, City Clerk               



CONTRACT BETWEEN 
 

OGEECHEE TECHNICAL COLLEGE 
 

AND 
 

THE MAYOR AND CITY COUNCIL OF STATESBORO 

 

 

FOR  
 

 

THE USE OF CERTAIN EQUIPMENT IN COURSES OF STUDY IN FIREFIGHTING 
AND EMERGENCY SERVICES 

 

 

 

 Government 
                    Exhibit 

      A    



THIS AGREEMENT, effective this _____ day of _______________, 2014 is 
made and entered into by and between OGEECHEE TECHNICAL COLLEGE, A 
COLLEGE OPERATED BY THE TECHNICAL COLLEGE SYSTEM OF GEORGIA, AN 
AGENCY OF THE STATE OF GEORGIA, and THE MAYOR AND CITY COUNCIL OF 
STATESBORO (hereinafter “Contractor”). 

WHEREAS, the Technical College System of Georgia (“TCSG”) is responsible 
for the oversight and operations of its associated postsecondary technical colleges, 
adult literacy programs, the “Quick Start” program and other programs and services 
pursuant to the Official Code of Georgia Annotated (O.C.G.A) § 20-4-14 et seq.; and 

 WHEREAS, TCSG is granted authority to enter into contracts pursuant to 
O.C.G.A. § 20-4-14(c)(5); and  

 WHEREAS, Article IX, Section III, Paragraph I of the Constitution of the State of 
Georgia authorizes governmental units and agencies to enter into contracts for a period 
not exceeding fifty (50) years for joint services, for the provision of services, or for the 
joint or separate use of facilities or equipment which the parties are authorized by law to 
undertake and provide; and 

 WHEREAS, OGEECHEE TECHNICAL COLLEGE has a need for the use of 
certain equipment for use in instruction in certain courses of study; 

 WHEREAS, The Mayor and City Council through the Statesboro Fire Department 
owns, operates and maintains said equipment;   

 NOW THEREFORE, FOR AND IN CONSIDERATION of the mutual promises, 
covenants and agreements contained herein, and other good and valuable 
consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, 
OGEECHEE TECHNICAL COLLEGE and Contractor hereby agree as follows: 

I. Scope of Services 

The purpose of this Contract is to provide certain equipment for use in instruction in 
certain courses of study in firefighting and emergency services. Subject to the terms 
and conditions set forth herein, OGEECHEE TECHNICAL COLLEGE retains 
Contractor to furnish certain equipment, as contemplated by this Contract. 

OGEECHEE TECHNICAL COLLEGE Responsibilities 

Pursuant to the terms and conditions set forth in this Contract, 
OGEECHEE TECHNICAL COLLEGE agrees to: 
(1) Pay Contractor within 30 days of receiving an approved invoice for 

furnishing certain equipment pursuant to the terms of this contract. 



 
A. Contractor Responsibilities 

Pursuant to the terms and conditions set forth in this Contract, Contractor 
agrees: 
(1) To pay all taxes lawfully imposed upon it with respect to this Contract 

or any product delivered in accordance herewith; 
(2) To secure any licenses/permits that are required prior to and during the 

performance of work under this Contract. 
(3) To secure, protect and insure any equipment and other tangible items 

contemplated by this contract.  
 

B. Deliverables 

Contractor agrees to provide the following equipment outlined in Exhibit A 
in accordance with the schedule of fees also set forth in Exhibit A.    

OGEECHEE TECHNICAL COLLEGE shall have no obligation to accept 
any equipment.   

In the event the Fire Chief of the Statesboro Fire Department determines 
that furnishing particular equipment at a particular time would compromise 
the mission of the Statesboro Fire Department, the Contractor shall not be 
obligated to furnish that particular equipment at that particular time. 

II. Term of Contract 
This Contract shall begin on the date of issuance and shall continue until the 
close of the state fiscal year ending June 30, 2015 unless renewed in writing 
as hereinafter provided. OGEECHEE TECHNICAL COLLEGE is hereby 
granted one (1) option to renew this Contract for an additional term of up to 
one fiscal year each upon the same terms, conditions, and price stated in this 
Contract and any amendments. Each renewal option shall be exercisable 
solely and exclusively by OGEECHEE TECHNICAL COLLEGE. 
 

III. Payment of Services 
Each invoice for payment must include the Contract Number, the Contractor’s 
tax identification number, and an itemization of the equipment being billed. 
Invoices shall be delivered to the OGEECHEE TECHNICAL COLLEGE 
representative identified in Section 8 of this Contract for review and approval. 
OGEECHEE TECHNICAL COLLEGE will pay approved invoices within thirty 
(30) days of receipt. Unless otherwise specified in this Contract, OGEECHEE 
TECHNICAL COLLEGE will not reimburse travel expenses incurred by 



Contractor unless such travel is approved in advance by the OGEECHEE 
TECHNICAL COLLEGE representative.  

 

The total of all payments made by OGEECHEE TECHNICAL COLLEGE to the 
Contractor under this Contract shall not exceed $8,895.00. OGEECHEE 
TECHNICAL COLLEGE shall have no responsibility whatsoever for payment 
beyond that amount.    

 
The contractor shall have no responsibility to provide equipment when 
payment for the use of the equipment would exceed the total of all payments 
authorized by OGEECHEE TECHNICAL COLLEGE to the Contractor under 
this contract.  
  

IV. Relationship of the Parties 
It is expressly agreed that the Contractor and its subcontractor(s), and any 
agents, officers, and employees of the Contractor or its subcontractor(s), in 
the performance of this Contract shall act in an independent capacity and not 
as officers or employees of OGEECHEE TECHNICAL COLLEGE. It is further 
expressly agreed that this Contract shall not be construed as a partnership or 
joint venture between the Contractor or its subcontractor(s) and OGEECHEE 
TECHNICAL COLLEGE. 

 

V. Confidentiality Requirements 
The Contractor shall treat all information which is obtained by it through its 
performance under the Contract as confidential information, and shall not use 
any information so obtained in any manner except as necessary for the 
proper discharge of its obligations. OGEECHEE TECHNICAL COLLEGE, the 
Georgia Attorney General, and/or federal officials, or the authorized 
representatives of these parties, shall have access to all confidential 
information in accordance with the requirements of state and federal laws and 
regulations. 

 

VI. Termination of Contract 
This Contract may be terminated by OGEECHEE TECHNICAL COLLEGE 
within thirty (30) days written notice to Contractor whenever OGEECHEE 
TECHNICAL COLLEGE, in its sole discretion, determines that such 
termination is in the best interest of the State. 



 

VII. Conflict of Interest and Prohibition of Gratuities 
The Contractor covenants that it presently has no interest and shall not 
acquire any interest, direct or indirect, which would conflict in any material 
manner or degree with, or have a material adverse effect on the performance 
of its services hereunder. The Contractor further covenants that in the 
performance of the Contract no person having any such interest shall be 
employed.  
 
All parties hereby certify that the provisions of O.C.G.A. § 45-10-20 through § 
45-10-28, which prohibit and regulate certain transactions between State 
Officials, employees and the State of Georgia, and O.C.G.A. § 45-1-6, which 
prohibits gratuities, have not been violated and will not be violated in any 
respect throughout the term of this Contract.  

 

VIII. Representatives 
Correspondence, invoices and any other communication regarding this 
contract should be directed to the following representatives: 
 
For OGEECHEE TECHNICAL COLLEGE: 
 
1. Invoices/Payment: 

Technical College System of Georgia 
ATTN: Eyvonne C. Hart 
One Joseph E. Kennedy Boulevard 
Statesboro, GA 30458 
(912) 486-7784 
ehart@ogeecheetech.edu 

2. Instructional Services: 
Technical College System of Georgia 
ATTN: Charlene J. Lamar, Ed.D. 
One Joseph E. Kennedy Boulevard 
Statesboro, GA 30458 
(912) 688-6039 
clamar@ogeecheetech.edu 

For Contractor: 

City of Statesboro Fire Department 

mailto:ehart@ogeecheetech.edu
mailto:clamar@ogeecheetech.edu


ATTN: Tim Grams 
1533 Fair Road 
Statesboro, GA 30458 
(912) 764-3473 

 

IX. Funding 
Notwithstanding any other provision of this agreement, the parties hereto 
agree that the charges hereunder are payable by OGEECHEE TECHNICAL 
COLLEGE from local funds generated by tuition revenue. In the event such 
funds are determined in the sole discretion of the chief operating officer of 
OGEECHEE TECHNICAL COLLEGE to no longer exist or to be insufficient 
with respect to the charges payable hereunder, this agreement shall 
terminate without further obligation of OGEECHEE TECHNICAL COLLEGE 
as of that moment (hereinafter referred to as “Event”). In such Event, the chief 
operating officer of OGEECHEE TECHNICAL COLLEGE shall certify to the 
Contractor the occurrence thereof, and such certification shall be conclusive. 
In the event of OGEECHEE TECHNICAL COLLEGE’S certification, 
OGEECHEE TECHNICAL COLLEGE agrees not to replace before the end of 
the fiscal year in which the Event occurs or before the expiration of this 
agreement, whichever occurs first, any equipment covered hereunder with 
equipment obtained from another contractor at the same or higher annual 
cost to OGEECHEE TECHNICAL COLLEGE. 

 

X. Miscellaneous 
 
A. Entire Agreement 

This Contract, together with any documents incorporated herein, 
constitutes the entire agreement between the parties with respect to the 
subject matter hereof and supersedes all prior negotiations, 
representations or contracts. No written or oral agreements, 
representations, statements, negotiations, understandings, or discussions 
which are not set out, referenced, or specifically incorporated into this 
Contract shall in any way be binding or of effect between the parties.  

 

B. Assignment 
Contractor shall not assign this Contract, in whole or in part, without the 
prior  written consent of OGEECHEE TECHNICAL COLLEGE, and any 



attempted assignment  not in accordance herewith shall be null and void 
and of no force or effect. 

 

C. Severability 
Any section, subsection, paragraph, term, condition, or provision or other 
part of this Contract which is judged, held, found or declared to be 
voidable, void, invalid, illegal or otherwise not fully enforceable shall not be 
part of this Contract, and shall not affect any other part of this Contract, 
and the remainder of this Contract shall continue to be of full force and 
effect as set out herein.  

 

D. Waiver 
The waiver by OGEECHEE TECHNICAL COLLEGE of any breach of any 
provision contained in this Contract shall not be deemed to be a waiver of 
such provision on any subsequent breach of the same, or of any other 
provision contained in this Contract, and shall not establish a course of 
performance between the parties contradictory to the terms hereof. 

 

E. Force Majeure 
Neither party to this Contract shall be responsible for delays or failures in 
performance resulting from acts beyond the control of such party. Such 
acts shall include but not be limited to acts of God, strikes, riots, lock-outs, 
acts of war, epidemics, fire, earthquakes, or other disasters. 

 

F. Insurance and Indemnity 
OGEECHEE TECHNICAL COLLEGE is self-insured under the State of 
Georgia, Department of Administrative Services, Risk Management 
Division, against employer liability and tort claims, including 
comprehensive automobile liability, in the amount of one million 
($1,000,000.00) per person and three million ($3,000,000.00) per 
occurrence; OGEECHEE TECHNICAL COLLEGE also maintains workers’ 
compensation insurance through the State of Georgia. 
 
OGEECHEE TECHNICAL COLLEGE and the CONTRACTOR are 
prohibited by the Constitution of Georgia from contacting to indemnify or 



hold harmless any individual or entity. Article VII, Sec. 4, Paragraph 8; 
Article III, Sec. 6, Constitution of the State of Georgia. Both parties will be 
liable only for personal injury or property damage caused by acts or 
omissions of its employees in the performance of this Contract to the 
extent provided by the Georgia Tort Claim Act (O.C.G.A. 50-21-20 et. 
seq.) 
 
Contractor shall maintain insurance as Contractor deems advisable to 
protect itself and OGEECHEE TECHNICAL COLLEGE. In some 
instances, OGEECHEE TECHNICAL COLLEGE may require Contractor 
to obtain insurance, and if so, will hereby provide Contractor with details 
as to the adequacy of insurance so required.  
 
OGEECHEE TECHNICAL COLLEGE shall maintain insurance as 
OGEECHEE TECHNICAL COLLEGE deems advisable to protect itself 
and Contractor. In some instances, Contractor may require OGEECHEE 
TECHNICAL COLLEGE to obtain insurance, and if so, will hereby provide 
OGEECHEE TECHNICAL COLLEGE with details as to the adequacy of 
insurance so required. 

 

G. Time is of the Essence 
Time is of the essence in the performance of this Contract. Any reference 
to “days” shall be deemed calendar days unless otherwise specifically 
stated. 

 

H. Debarment 
In accordance with Executive Order 12549, Debarment and Suspension, 
and implemented at 45 CFR Part 76, 100-510, Contractor certifies by 
signing that neither it nor its principals are presently debarred, suspended, 
proposed for debarment, declared ineligible, or voluntarily excluded from 
participation in this contract by any federal or state department or agency. 
Contractor further agrees that it will include this clause without 
modification, in all lower tier transactions and in all solicitations for lower 
tier covered transactions. 

 

I. Applicable law 



This Contract shall be governed in all respects by the laws of the State of 
Georgia. 

 

J. Immigration and Reporting Requirements 
In accordance with the Immigration Reform and Control Act of 1986 
(IRCA), D.L. 99-603 and the Georgia Security and Immigration 
Compliance Act O.C.G.A. 13-10-90 et seq., Contractor certifies 
compliance and agrees to complete the Immigration and Security Form 
attached hereto. 

 

XI. Amendments in Writing 
No amendment of this Contract or any of the terms or provisions hereof, shall 
be binding upon either party except by a writing executed by both parties. 

 

XII. Survivability 
The terms, provisions, representations, warranties and indemnifications 
contained in this Contract are intended to and shall survive the delivery or 
provision of all services or deliverables hereunder as well as any expiration or 
termination of this Contract. 
 
 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have agreed by their 
authorized officers as of the day and year indicated, and by signing four (4) 
originals.  
 
 
OGEECHEE TECHNICAL COLLEGE 
 
 
 
BY: _________________________________  _______________ 
       DAWN CARTEE, PRESIDENT    Date 
 

ATTEST:   __________________________________  _______________ 
          Date 
 

 



 
 
 CONTRACTOR 
 
 

  MAYOR AND CITY COUNCIL OF STATESBORO 
      
     
  BY: ___________________________ _______________ 
   JAN J. MOORE, MAYOR   Date 

 

 ATTEST: __________________________________ _______________ 
   SUE STARLING, CITY CLERK   Date 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 

 

EXHIBIT  A 
SCHEDULE OF FEES 



Turn out gear     $616.00 per semester per student 

Self-Contained Breathing Apparatus $357.50 per semester per student 

Fire Engines     $100.21 per hour of use 

Aerial      $161.21 per hour of use 

Text book rental     $77.00 per semester per student 

 

 

 

 

 



 

June 20, 2014 
 
Mayor Jan Moore 
City of Statesboro 
P.O. Box 348 
Statesboro, GA 30459 
 
Re: Savannah Avenue Resurfacing and Traffic Calming Design 
 
Dear Mayor Moore, 
 
I am pleased to present this proposal to the City of Statesboro for engineering services related to the 
upcoming street improvement work on Savannah Avenue. It is my understanding that the project 
starts at Gentilly Road and ends at the railroad tracks near Triangle Park. The following is a scope of 
services: 

       
1.  Assist the City Engineer with gathering stakeholder input.   $4500 
 

Engineer will do the following: 
 

 Meet with the Mayor and the council members that represent the area to gather their 
input. 

 Meet with the consulting engineer that is preparing the water and wastewater design 
plans to ensure that the two designs are coordinated. 

 Meet with emergency services personnel to gather input and determine their routes. 
 Hold homeowner meetings at City Hall to allow citizens to provide input.  
  Provide a recommendation to the City Engineer regarding the method of traffic 

calming. 
 Meet with City staff and City Tree Board to gather input. 

 
2. Provide a resurfacing design.       $4500 

Engineer will coordinate with a testing agency. The testing agency will take core samples to 
determine the depth of asphalt and concrete and the depth of cracking. (The City of 
Statesboro shall procure the testing agency’s service.) The engineer will hold meetings with 
GDOT bituminous engineers, regional contractors, city staff and local contractors to select a 
solution for providing crack relief. Engineer will provide construction drawings detailing 
resurfacing plans including pavement removal (if necessary), joint repair, curb and gutter 
repair and pavement striping/signage. 
 

36 Courtland Street Suite B, Statesboro GA 30458 
Phone: 912-764-7722 
Fax: 912-764-6960 
Email: wesley@parker-engineering.com 



 

 
3. Sidewalks, handicap ramps, crosswalks.      $3000 
 

Engineer will design extra sidewalk not designed by water engineer. Engineer will design 
sidewalks, to tie into the sidewalks into the side streets. All crosswalks will be designed for 
sidestreets. Design, including sidewalk ramps shall be in compliance with the Americans 
with Disabilities Act (ADA). Engineer will provide a review of the design prepared by the 
water and wastewater design engineer to ensure that it is coordinated with the traffic calming 
design and also conforms with ADA standards. 
 

4. Traffic Calming Design.        $13,000 
 

Based on discussions with the stakeholders, previous reports and previous research, the 
Engineer will recommend to the City Engineer a traffic calming concept for Savannah 
Avenue. After the concept is approved, the Engineer will provide construction drawings and 
specifications that detail the traffic calming measures.  Design will incorporate drainage 
modifications if necessary. 
 

5. Incorporate City Provided Traffic Signal Replacement Plans   $1,000 
 

Engineer will incorporate traffic signal design into the construction drawings and bid 
package and will coordinate the design with the traffic calming design. 
 

6. Bidding Assistance.         $3000 
 

Engineer will provide the following services: 
 
1. Prepare bidding documents including bid form, bid requirements, bid advertisements, 

bonding requirements, standard bidding language, etc. 
2. Answer contractor questions, issue addendums as needed. 
3. Maintain bid holders list. 
4. Distribute bidding documents. 
5. Assist City Engineer with bid opening.   
6. Provide bid tabulation. 
7. Provide contractor recommendation. 
8. Issue Notice of Award. 

 
7. Construction Observation         $6000 
 

Engineer will provide the following services: 
 
1. Assist City with Pre-Construction Conference. 



 

2. Review submittals. 
3. Provide routine construction observation. 
4. Review pay requests. 
5. Close out project. 

 
Total           $35,000 

 
Thank you for the opportunity to work with the City of Statesboro on this important project. 
 
Sincerely, 
 

 
Wesley Parker, PE 
  
Accepted by: __________________________ 
  Jan J. Moore, Mayor 
 
Date:   ________________________ 






	07-01-2014 Council Agenda
	06-17-2014 Council minutes
	06-24-2014 Called Council minutes
	07-2014-20-RESOLUTION (PDF)
	07-2014-21 RESOLUTION (PDF)
	07-2014-24 resolution closling roadway
	07-2014-24 Map Proposed Street Closures Sketch
	07-2014-22 American Way - Resolution for Street Dedication (Jul 2014)
	07-2014-22 Resolution American Way
	07-2014-23 RESOLUTION Authorizing K with Ogeechee Tech
	07-2014-23 Contract w-Resolution OTC and City of Statesboro Agreement
	CONTRACT BETWEEN
	OGEECHEE TECHNICAL COLLEGE
	AND
	FOR
	ATTEST:   __________________________________  _______________
	Date
	MAYOR AND CITY COUNCIL OF STATESBORO
	BY: ___________________________ _______________
	ATTEST: __________________________________ _______________
	SUE STARLING, CITY CLERK   Date
	EXHIBIT  A


	07-2014 Parker Engineering-Final Sav. Ave. Eng. Proposal
	07-2014 Y-Delta contract

